Registration No. 333-\_

## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

## FORM S-8

#### **REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933**

## Maximus, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Virginia (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

54-1000588 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

**1891 Metro Center Drive** Reston, Virginia (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

20190 (Zip Code)

# Maximus, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (Full title of the plan)

David R. Francis, Esq. General Counsel and Secretary Maximus, Inc. 1891 Metro Center Drive Reston, Virginia 20190 (Name and address of agent for service)

(703) 251-8500 (Telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See definition of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer

Accelerated filer Smaller reporting company Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act.

#### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

| Title of securities to be registered | Amount to be   | Proposed maximum             | Proposed maximum aggregate | Amount of        |
|--------------------------------------|----------------|------------------------------|----------------------------|------------------|
|                                      | registered (1) | offering price per share (2) | offering price             | registration fee |
| Common Stock, no par value           | 3,234,714      | \$92.03                      | \$297,690,729              | \$32,478         |

The amount of Common Stock registered hereunder shall be deemed to include any additional shares issuable as a result of any stock split, stock dividend or other change in the (1)

capitalization of the Registrant. Pursuant to Rule 457(h) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), the registration fee is based on the average of the high (\$92.72) and low (\$91.34) sales prices of a share of Common Stock reported on the New York Stock Exchange on April 30, 2021. (2)

#### PART I

#### **INFORMATION REQUIRED IN THE SECTION 10(a) PROSPECTUS**

The documents containing the employee benefit plan information and other information required by Part I of Form S-8 will be sent or given to participants under the Maximus, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "Plan") as specified by Rule 428 under the Securities Act. In accordance with Rule 428 under the Securities Act and the requirements of Part I of Form S-8, such documents are not being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") either as a part of this registration statement on Form S-8 (this "Registration Statement") or as a prospectus or prospectus supplement pursuant to Rule 424 under the Securities Act. The Registrant will maintain a file of such documents in accordance with the provisions of Rule 428 under the Securities Act. Upon request, the Registrant will furnish to the Commission or its staff a copy or copies of all of the documents included in such file.

#### PART II

#### INFORMATION REQUIRED IN THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT

#### Item 3. Incorporation of Documents by Reference.

The following documents previously filed by the Registrant with the Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof, to the extent that such documents are considered filed with the Commission:

- (1) the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020 (the "Form 10-K");
- (2) the portions of the Registrant's definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on March 16, 2021 that have been incorporated by reference into the Form 10-K;
- (3) the Registrant's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended December 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021;
- (4) the Registrant's Current Reports on Form 8-K, filed January 7, 2021, March 4, 2021, March 19, 2021, April 2, 2021 and April 26, 2021; and
- (5) the description of the Registrant's Common Stock contained in the Registrant's registration statement on Form 8-A, filed May 15, 1997.

All documents subsequently filed by the Registrant pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act, prior to the filing of a post-effective amendment which indicates that all securities offered have been sold or which deregisters all securities then remaining unsold, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference herein and to be a part hereof from the date of filing of such documents, to the extent that such documents are considered filed with the Commission. Any statement contained herein or in a document incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Registration Statement to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Registration Statement.

#### Item 4. Description of Securities.

Not applicable.

#### Item 5. Interests of Named Experts and Counsel.

Not applicable.

#### Item 6. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

The Virginia Stock Corporation Act, codified in Article 10 of Chapter 9 of Title 13.1 of the Code of Virginia as amended (the "VSCA"), permits a Virginia corporation to indemnify any director or officer for expenses incurred in any legal proceeding in advance of final disposition of the proceeding, if the director or officer furnishes the corporation with a signed written undertaking to repay any funds advanced if he or she is not entitled to mandatory indemnification and it is ultimately determined that he or she did not meet the relevant standard of conduct. In addition, a corporation is permitted to indemnify a director or officer against liability incurred in a proceeding if a determination has been made by the disinterested members of the board of directors, special legal counsel or shareholders that the director or officer conducted himself or herself in good faith and otherwise met the required standard of conduct. To meet the relevant standard of conduct, the VSCA provides that the director or officer must have conducted himself or herself in good faith and believed, in the case of conduct in his or her official capacity with the corporation, that his or her conduct was in its best interests and, in the case of other conduct, that his or her conduct was at least not opposed to its best interests. In the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer must not have had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. In a proceeding by or in the right of the corporation, no indemnification shall be made in respect of any matter as to which a director or officer is adjudged to be liable to the corporation, except for expenses incurred in connection with the proceeding if it is determined that the director or officer has met the relevant standard of conduct. In any other proceeding, no indemnification shall be made if the director or officer is adjudged liable to the corporation on the basis that he or she improperly received a personal benefit. Corporations are given the power to make any other or further indemnity, including advances and reimbursement of expenses, to any director or officer that may be authorized by the articles of incorporation or any bylaw made by the shareholders, or any resolution adopted, before or after the event, by the shareholders, except an indemnity against willful misconduct or a knowing violation of the criminal law or of any federal or state securities law. Unless limited by its articles of incorporation, indemnification against the expenses incurred by a director or officer is mandatory when he or she entirely prevails in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is a party because he or she is or was a director or officer.

The Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant contain provisions indemnifying the directors and officers of the Registrant to the full extent permitted by Virginia law. In addition, the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant eliminate the personal liability of the Registrant's directors and officers to the Registrant or its shareholders for monetary damages to the full extent permitted by Virginia law.

#### Item 7. Exemption from Registration Claimed.

Not applicable.

#### Item 8. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed on behalf of the Registrant as part of this Registration Statement:

|--|

- 4.1
   Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000, filed August 14, 2000.
- 4.2 Articles of Amendment of Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i) of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013, filed May 10, 2013.
- 4.3 Articles of Amendment of Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, filed May 7, 2020.
- 4.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 19, 2015.
- 4.5 Maximus, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan. \*
- 5.1 Opinion of Hogan Lovells US LLP. \*
- 23.1 Consent of Hogan Lovells US LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1). \*
- 23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP. \*
- 24.1 Powers of Attorney (included on Signature Page). \*

\* Filed herewith.

#### Item 9. Undertakings

(a) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this Registration Statement:

i To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;

To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or most recent posteffective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and

ii

iii To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

provided, however, the paragraphs (1)(i) and 1(ii) of this section do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the Registrant pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement.

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(b) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the Registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(c) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its course the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

#### SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-8 and has duly caused the Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Fairfax County, Commonwealth of Virginia, on May 6, 2021.

#### Maximus, Inc.

By:

/s/ Bruce L. Caswell

Bruce L. Caswell Chief Executive Officer

#### POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each of the undersigned hereby appoints David R. Francis and Richard J. Nadeau, each of whom may act individually, as attorneys-in-fact and agents for the undersigned, with full power of substitution, for and in the name, place and stead of the undersigned, to sign and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement, with any schedules or exhibits thereto, and any and all supplements or other documents to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pertaining to the registration of securities covered hereby, with full power and authority to do and perform any and all acts and things as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of such registration.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

| Signature                                  | Title   | Date        |
|--|---|-------------|
| /s/ Bruce L. Caswell                       | President, Chief Executive Officer and Director | May 6, 2021 |
| Bruce L. Caswell                           | (Principal Executive Officer)                   |             |
| /s/ Richard J. Nadeau                      | Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer           | May 6, 2021 |
| Richard J. Nadeau                          | (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)    |             |
| /s/ Peter B. Pond                          | Chairman of the Board of Directors              | May 6, 2021 |
| Peter B. Pond                              |   |             |
| /s/ Richard A. Montoni                     | Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors         | May 6, 2021 |
| Richard A. Montoni                         |   |             |
| /s/ Anne K. Altman                         | Director  | May 6, 2021 |
| Anne K. Altman                             |   |             |
| /s/ John J. Haley                          | Director  | May 6, 2021 |
| John J. Haley                              |   |             |
| /s/ Jan D. Madsen                          | Director  | May 6, 2021 |
| Jan D. Madsen                              |   |             |
| /s/ Gayathri Rajan                         | Director  | May 6, 2021 |
| Gayathri Rajan                             |   |             |
| /s/ Raymond B. Ruddy                       | Director  | May 6, 2021 |
| Raymond B. Ruddy                           |   | ·           |
| /s/ Michael J. Warren<br>Michael J. Warren | Director  | May 6, 2021 |

## MAXIMUS, INC. 2021 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

## MAXIMUS, INC. 2021 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>

| Article 1.  | Establishment, Objectives and Duration                        | 1  |
|-------------|---|----|
| Article 2.  | Definitions   | 1  |
| Article 3.  | Administration  | 8  |
| Article 4.  | Shares Subject to the Plan                                    | 9  |
| Article 5.  | Eligibility and Participation                                 | 11 |
| Article 6.  | Stock Options   | 11 |
| Article 7.  | Stock Appreciation Rights                                     | 14 |
| Article 8.  | Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Units | 16 |
| Article 9.  | Performance Units, Performance Shares and Other Awards        | 18 |
| Article 10. | Performance Criteria  | 20 |
| Article 11. | Beneficiary Designation                                       | 21 |
| Article 12. | Deferrals   | 21 |
| Article 13. | Rights of Employees   | 21 |
| Article 14. | Change in Control   | 21 |
| Article 15. | Amendment, Modification and Termination                       | 22 |
| Article 16. | Withholding   | 24 |
| Article 17. | Indemnification   | 24 |
| Article 18. | Successors  | 25 |
| Article 19. | Legal Construction  | 25 |
|             |   |    |

#### MAXIMUS, INC. 2021 OMNIBUS Incentive Plan

#### Article 1. Establishment, Objectives and Duration

**1.1** Establishment of the Plan. MAXIMUS, Inc., a Virginia corporation, hereby establishes its long-term equity incentive compensation plan, to be known as the "MAXIMUS, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan" as set forth in this document. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein will have the meanings given to them in Article 2. The Plan permits the grant of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Units, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares, Performance Units, Performance Awards, and other cash and equity incentive awards.

The Plan is effective as of the Effective Date, as defined in Article 2, which was the date approval by the Company's shareholders was obtained, and will remain in effect as provided in Section 1.3 hereof.

**1.2 Objectives of the Plan.** The objectives of the Plan are to optimize the profitability and growth of the Company through equitybased and cash-based incentives that are consistent with the Company's objectives and that link the interests of Participants to those of the Company's shareholders; to provide Participants with an incentive for excellence in individual performance; to promote teamwork among Participants; and to attract and retain key employees and consultants of the Company and its Affiliates.

The Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract and retain the services of Participants who make significant contributions to the Company's success, and to allow Participants to share in the success of the Company.

**1.3 Duration of the Plan.** The Plan will commence on the Effective Date, as defined in Article 2, and will remain in effect, subject to the right of the Committee to amend or terminate the Plan at any time pursuant to Article 15, until all Shares subject to it pursuant to Article 4 have been issued or transferred according to the Plan's provisions. In no event may an Award be granted under the Plan on or after the ten (10) year anniversary of the Effective Date.

#### Article 2. Definitions

Whenever used in the Plan, the following terms have the meanings set forth below, and when the meaning is intended, the initial letter of the word is capitalized:

"Affiliates" means any business entity that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the Company. For purposes hereof, "control" (and with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with") shall mean the possession of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of the Company, whether through the ownership of voting stock, by contract or otherwise. In the case of a corporation "control" shall mean, among other things, the direct or indirect ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of its outstanding voting stock.

1

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining whether an employee has terminated employment with the Company and all Affiliates, "Affiliates" means any corporation (or partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, or other enterprise) of which the Company owns or controls, directly or indirectly, at least ten percent (10%) of the outstanding shares of stock normally entitled to vote for the election of directors (or comparable equity participation and voting power). The minimum percentage of ownership or control in the previous sentence shall be raised from ten percent (10%) to twenty percent (20%) for purposes of determining timing of payment of an Award, or amount payable with respect to an Award, that is "deferred compensation" for purposes of Code Section 409A, if payment of such Award or amount would be accelerated or otherwise triggered by the employee's termination of employment.

"Automatic Exercise Date" means, with respect to an Option or Stock Appreciation Right, the last business day of the applicable term of the Stock Appreciation Right pursuant to Section 7.7.

"Award" means, individually or collectively, a grant under this Plan to a Participant of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Units, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares, Performance Units or other types of equity-based or cash-based incentives hereafter approved by the Committee.

"Award Agreement" means an agreement entered into by the Company and a Participant setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to an Award or Awards granted to the Participant, which may be in written or electronic form.

"Beneficial Owner" or "Beneficial Ownership" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act.

#### "Board" or "Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of the Company.

"Cause" has the meaning set forth in any unexpired employment or severance agreement between the Participant and the Company or an Affiliate or, if not so defined, except as otherwise provided in such Participant's Award Agreement, "Cause" means:

- (a) the willful and continued failure of the Participant substantially to perform his or her duties with or for the Company or an Affiliate;
- (b) the Participant's engaging in conduct that is significantly injurious to the Company or an Affiliate, monetarily or otherwise; or
- (c) the Participant's commission of a crime that is significantly injurious to the Company or an Affiliate, monetarily, reputationally or otherwise.

Unless otherwise defined in the Participant's employment or severance agreement, an act or omission is "willful" for the purpose of determining whether a termination of employment was made for Cause if it was knowingly done, or knowingly omitted to be done, by the Participant not in good faith and without reasonable belief that the act or omission was in the best interest of the Company or an Affiliate. For purposes of this Plan, if a Participant is convicted of a crime or pleads *nolo contendere* to a criminal charge, he or she will conclusively be deemed to

have committed the crime. The Committee has the discretion, in other circumstances, to determine in good faith, from all the facts and circumstances reasonably available to it, whether a Participant who is under investigation for, or has been charged with, a crime will be deemed to have committed it for purposes of this Plan.

In addition, Cause shall be deemed to have occurred if, on the date Participant's Service terminates, facts and circumstances exist that would have justified a termination for Cause, even if such facts and circumstances are discovered after such termination.

"Change in Control" of the Company will be deemed to have occurred (as of a particular day, as specified by the Board) as of the first day any one or more of the following paragraphs is satisfied.

- (a) The Beneficial Ownership of securities representing more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the "Company Voting Securities") is accumulated, held or acquired by a Person (other than the Company, any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or an Affiliate thereof, or any corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company's shareholders in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company); provided, however, that any acquisition from the Company or any acquisition pursuant to a transaction that complies with clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of subparagraph (c) of this definition will not be a Change of Control under this subparagraph (a), and provided further, that immediately prior to such accumulation, holding or acquisition, such Person was not a direct or indirect Beneficial Owner of twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the Company Voting Securities; or
- (b) Individuals who, as of the Effective Date of this Plan, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that an individual becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whose election, or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board will be considered as though such individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board; or
- (c) Consummation by the Company of a reorganization, merger or consolidation, or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity (a "Business Combination"), in each case, unless immediately following such Business Combination: (i) more than sixty percent (60%) of the combined voting power of then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of (A) the corporation resulting from such Business Combination (the "Surviving

Corporation"), or (B) if applicable, a corporation that as a result of such transaction owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries (the "Parent Corporation"), is represented, directly or indirectly, by Company Voting Securities outstanding immediately prior to such Business Combination (or, if applicable, is represented by shares into which such Company Voting Securities were converted pursuant to such Business Combination), and such voting power among the holders thereof is in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination, of the Company Voting Securities, (ii) no Person (excluding any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities eligible to elect directors of the Parent Corporation (or, if there is no Parent Corporation, and (iii) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the Parent Corporation (or, if there is no Parent Corporation, the Surviving Corporation) were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business Combination; or

(d) Approval by the Company's shareholders of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

However, in no event will a Change in Control be deemed to have occurred, with respect to a Participant, if the Participant is part of a purchasing group that consummates the Change in Control transaction. A Participant will be deemed "part of a purchasing group" for purposes of the preceding sentence if the Participant is an equity holder in the purchasing company or group (except: (i) passive ownership of less than two percent (2%) of the stock of the purchasing company; or (ii) ownership of equity participation in the purchasing company or group that is otherwise not significant, as determined prior to the Change in Control by a majority of the nonemployee continuing directors).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Award, or amount payable with respect to an Award, is "deferred compensation" for purposes of Code Section 409A, and if a payment of such Award or amount would be accelerated or otherwise triggered upon a "Change in Control," then the foregoing definition is modified, to the extent necessary to avoid the imposition of an excise tax under Code Section 409A, to mean a "Change in Control" that is also a "change in control event" as such term is defined for purposes of Code Section 409A. For purposes of clarity, if an Award would, for example, vest and be paid on a "Change in Control" as defined herein but payment of such Award would violate the provisions of Code Section 409A, then the Award shall vest but will be paid only in compliance with its terms and Code Section 409A (*i.e.*, upon a permissible payment event).

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Committee" means the Compensation Committee of the Board or any successor committee with responsibility for compensation, or any subcommittee, as long as the number of Committee members and their qualifications shall at all times be sufficient to meet the applicable requirements for "non-employee directors" within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act and the independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. or any other applicable exchange on which the Company's common equity is at the time listed.

"Common Stock" or "Stock" means the common stock of the Company.

"Company" means MAXIMUS, Inc.

**"Designated Beneficiary"** means the beneficiary designated by a Participant, in a manner determined by the Committee, to receive amounts due or exercise rights of the Participant in the event of the Participant's death. In the absence of an effective designation by a Participant, "Designated Beneficiary" shall mean the beneficiary designated by the Participant in the Company's qualified 401(k) savings plan or, if no such beneficiary has been designated, to the Participant's estate.

"Director" means any individual who is a member of the Board of Directors.

"Disability" means (a) long-term disability as defined under the long-term disability plan of the Company or an Affiliate that covers that individual, or (b) if the individual is not covered by such a long-term disability plan, disability as defined for purposes of eligibility for a disability award under the Social Security Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining the period of time after termination of employment during which a Participant may exercise an ISO, "Disability" will have the meaning set forth in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, which is, generally, that the Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of a medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or that has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of at least twelve (12) months.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Award, or amount payable with respect to an Award, is "deferred compensation" for purposes of Code Section 409A, and if a payment of such Award or amount would be accelerated or otherwise triggered upon a "Disability," then the foregoing definition is modified, to the extent necessary to avoid the imposition of an excise tax under Code Section 409A, to refer to a Participant who is "disabled," as such term is defined for purposes of Code Section 409A. For purposes of clarity, if an Award would, for example, vest and be paid on a "Disability" as defined herein but payment of such Award would violate the provisions of Code Section 409A, then the Award shall vest but will be paid only in compliance with its terms and Code Section 409A (*i.e.*, upon a permissible payment event).

"Effective Date" means March 16, 2021, subject to approval of the Plan by the Company's shareholders.

"Eligible Employee" or "Employee" means any employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates. Directors who are not employed by the Company or its Affiliates will also be considered Eligible Employees and Employees under this Plan.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, or any successor act thereto.

"Exercise Price" means the price at which a Share may be purchased by a Participant pursuant to an Option.

**"Fair Market Value"** means, unless otherwise determined by the Committee from time to time, the closing transaction price of a Share as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on the date as of which such value is being determined or, if Shares are not listed on the New York Stock Exchange, the closing transaction price of a Share on the principal national stock exchange on which Shares are traded on the date as of which such value is being determined or, if there shall be no reported transactions for such date, on the next preceding date for which transactions were reported; provided, however, that if Shares are not listed on a national stock exchange or if Fair Market Value for any date cannot be so determined, Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Committee by whatever means or method as the Committee, in the good faith exercise of its discretion, shall at such time deem appropriate and in compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

"Freestanding SAR" means an SAR that is granted independently of any Options, as described in Article 7.

"Incentive Stock Option" or "ISO" means an option to purchase Shares granted under Article 6 that is designated as an Incentive Stock Option and that is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 422.

"Nonqualified Stock Option" or "NQSO" means an option to purchase Shares granted under Article 6 that is not intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 422.

"Option" means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option, as described in Article 6.

"Participant" means an Eligible Employee, a Director who is not an employee of the Company or an Affiliate, or a consultant to the Company or an Affiliate, in each case, who has been selected by the Committee to participate in the Plan pursuant to Section 5.2 and who has outstanding an Award granted under the Plan.

"Performance Award" means a right to receive cash or Shares (as determined by the Committee) upon the achievement, in whole or in part, of the applicable Performance Criteria pursuant to Article 9.

**"Performance Criteria"** means the objectives established by the Committee for a Performance Period for the purpose of determining the extent to which an Award of Performance Shares, Performance Awards, or Performance Units has been earned.

"Performance Period" means the time period during which the Performance Criteria must be met in order for a Participant to earn Performance Units, Performance Awards or Performance Shares granted under Article 9.

"Performance Share" means an Award with an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value on the date of grant that is based on the attainment of Performance Criteria, as described in Article 9.

"Performance Unit" means an Award with an initial value established by the Committee at the time of grant that is based on the attainment of Performance Criteria, as described in Article 9.

"Person" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a "group" as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.

"Plan" means the MAXIMUS, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as set forth in this document and as amended from time to time.

"Prior Plan" means the MAXIMUS, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan and the MAXIMUS, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended through December 16, 2015).

"Reporting Person" means a person subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any successor provision.

"Restricted Stock" means a contingent grant of Stock awarded to a Participant pursuant to Article 8.

"Restricted Stock Unit" means a Restricted Unit granted to a Participant, as described in Article 8, that is payable in Shares.

**"Restricted Unit"** means a notional account established pursuant to an Award granted to a Participant, as described in Article 8, that is (a) credited with amounts equal to Shares or some other unit of measurement specified in the Award Agreement, (b) subject to restrictions and (c) payable in cash or Shares.

"Restriction Period" means the period during which the transfer of an Award is limited in some way (based on the passage of time, the achievement of performance objectives, or the occurrence of other events as determined by the Committee, at its discretion) or during which an Award is not vested.

"Retirement" has the meaning set forth in any Award Agreement under the Plan. If an Award Agreement does not contain such a definition, "Retirement" means the termination of a Participant's employment under any of the following circumstances: (a) on or after reaching the age established by the Company as the normal retirement age in any unexpired employment or severance agreement between the Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, (b) on or after reaching the normal retirement age under a tax-qualified defined benefit retirement plan sponsored by the Company or an Affiliate in which the Participant participates or (c) on or after

reaching the normal retirement age under a tax-qualified defined contribution retirement plan sponsored by the Company or an Affiliate in which the Participant participates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee retains the sole discretion to determine whether a Participant's termination of employment qualifies as a "Retirement" for purposes of the Plan.

"Service" means services performed for the Company or its Affiliates as an Employee, Director, consultant, or independent contractor.

"Shares" means the shares of Common Stock, no par value, of the Company, including their associated preferred share purchase rights, if applicable.

"Stock Appreciation Right" or "SAR" means an Award consisting of a right to receive any excess in value of Shares of Common Stock over the grant price, granted alone or in connection with a related Option, and designated as an SAR pursuant to the terms of Article 7.

**"Tandem SAR"** means an SAR that is granted in connection with a related Option pursuant to Article 7, the exercise of which requires forfeiture of the right to purchase a Share under the related Option (and when a Share is purchased under the Option, the Tandem SAR will similarly be canceled).

#### Article 3. Administration

**3.1** The Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall have authority to adopt, alter and repeal such administrative rules, guidelines and practices governing the operation of the Plan as it shall from time to time consider advisable, and to interpret the provisions of the Plan. The Committee's decisions shall be final and binding. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Committee may delegate to one or more executive officers of the Company the power to make Awards to Participants who are not Reporting Persons and all determinations under the Plan with respect thereto, provided that the Committee shall fix the maximum amount of such Awards for all such Participants and a maximum for any one Participant.

**3.2** Authority of the Committee. Except as limited by law and subject to the provisions of this Plan, the Committee will have full power to: select eligible persons to participate in the Plan; determine the sizes and types of Awards; determine the terms and conditions of Awards in a manner consistent with the Plan; determine whether, to what extent, and/or under what circumstances the vesting of an Award shall be accelerated; construe and interpret the Plan and any agreement or instrument entered into under the Plan; establish, amend or waive rules and regulations for the Plan's administration; and (subject to the provisions of Article 15) amend the terms and conditions of any outstanding Award to the extent they are within the discretion of the Committee as provided in the Plan. Further, the Committee will make all other determinations that may be necessary or advisable to administer the Plan. As permitted by law and consistent with Section 3.1, the Committee may delegate some or all of its authority under the Plan.

**3.3** Decisions Binding. All determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Plan will be final, conclusive and binding on all persons, including, without limitation, the Company, its Board of Directors, its shareholders, all Affiliates, employees, Participants and their estates and beneficiaries.

#### Article 4. Shares Subject to the Plan

**4.1** Number of Shares Available for Grants. Subject to adjustment as provided in Sections 4.2 and 4.4, the maximum number of Shares that may be issued or transferred to Participants under the Plan shall not exceed 3,100,000 Shares, plus any Shares that are available for grant under the MAXIMUS, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan as of the Effective Date. No additional awards shall be made under the Prior Plans on or after the Effective Date. The Shares with respect to which Awards may be made will include authorized but unissued Shares, and Shares that are currently held or subsequently acquired by the Company as treasury Shares, including Shares purchased in the open market or in private transactions.

**4.2 Permitted Addbacks to Share Reserve.** After the Effective Date, if any Award granted under this Plan or under a Prior Plan is canceled, terminates, expires or lapses for any reason, any Shares subject to the Award or Prior Plan award will again be available for the grant of an Award under the Plan. In addition, if a Share subject to an Award or a Prior Plan award is not delivered after the Effective Date because the Award is settled in cash, then that Share will thereafter be deemed to be available for grant of an Award under the Plan. In the event that withholding tax liabilities arising from an Award other than an Option or SAR or, after the Effective Date, an award other than an option or stock appreciation right under any Prior Plan are satisfied by the tendering of Shares (either actually or by attestation) or by the withholding of Shares by the Company, the Shares so tendered or withheld shall be added to the Shares available for Awards under the Plan; provided, however, that Shares that again become available for issuance under the Plan pursuant to the preceding clause (ii) shall not increase the numbers of shares that may be granted under the Plan in connection with Incentive Stock Options.

**4.3** No Recycling of Options or SARs. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the following Shares shall not be added to the shares authorized for grant under Section 6.11: (i) Shares tendered by the participant or withheld by the Company in payment of the purchase price of an Option or, after the Effective Date, an option under any Prior Plan, (ii) Shares tendered by the participant or withheld by the Company to satisfy any tax withholding obligation with respect to Options or SARs or, after the Effective Date, options or stock appreciation rights under any Prior Plan, (iii) Shares subject to a SAR or, after the Effective Date, a stock appreciation right under any Prior Plan that are not issued in connection with its stock settlement on exercise thereof, and (iv) Shares reacquired by the Company on the open market or otherwise using cash proceeds from the exercise of Options or, after the Effective Date, options under any Prior Plan.

#### 4.4 Substitute Awards and Shares Issuable Under Acquired Company Plans.

(a) The Committee may, in its discretion and on such terms and conditions as the Committee considers appropriate in the circumstances, grant Substitute Awards under the Plan.

Substitute Awards shall not be counted against or otherwise reduce the number of Shares available for Awards under the Plan. For purposes of this Section 4.3, "Substitute Award" means an Award granted under the Plan in substitution for stock and stock-based awards ("Acquired Entity Awards") held by current and former employees or non-employee directors of, or consultants to, another corporation or entity who become Eligible Employees or whose awards are assumed or substituted as the result of a merger, consolidation or combination of the employing corporation or other entity (the "Acquired Entity") with the Company or an Affiliate or the acquisition by the Company or an Affiliate of property or stock of the Acquired Entity immediately prior to such merger, consolidation, acquisition or combination ("Acquisition Date") in order to preserve for the Participant the economic value of all or a portion of such Acquired Entity Award at such price as the Committee determines necessary to achieve preservation of economic value.

(b) If a company acquired by the Company or any Affiliate or with which the Company or any Affiliate combines has shares available under a pre-existing plan approved by shareholders and not adopted in contemplation of such acquisition or combination, the shares available for grant pursuant to the terms of such pre-existing plan (as adjusted, to the extent appropriate, using the exchange ratio or other adjustment or valuation ratio or formula used in such acquisition or combination) may be used for Awards and shall not reduce the Shares available for Awards under the Plan. Awards using such available shares under acquired plans shall not be made after the date awards could have been made under the terms of the acquired plan, absent the acquisition or combination, and shall only be made to individuals who were not eligible to participate in the Plan prior to such acquisition or combination.

**4.5** Adjustments in Authorized Shares. In the event of an equity restructuring (within the meaning of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation) that causes the per share value of Shares to change or the Shares, as currently constituted, are changed into or exchanged for a different number or kind of shares of stock or other securities of the Company or of another corporation (whether because of merger, consolidation, recapitalization, extraordinary cash dividend, reclassification, split, reverse split, spin off, combination of shares, or other similar change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the Shares) or if the number of Shares is increased through the payment of a stock dividend, then the Committee (subject, in the case of Incentive Stock Options, to any limitation required under the Code) shall equitably adjust any or all of (i) the number and kind of shares in respect of which Awards may be made under the Plan, (ii) the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding Awards, (iii) the award, exercise or conversion price with respect to any of the foregoing, and (iv) the performance conditions with respect to outstanding Awards. If considered appropriate, the Committee may make provision for a cash payment with respect to an outstanding Award, provided that the number of shares subject to any Award shall always be a whole number.

4.6 Non-Employee Director Limit. The maximum number of Shares subject to Awards granted during a single fiscal year to any non-employee Director, taken together with any cash fees paid during the fiscal year to the non-employee Director in respect of such

10

Director's service as a member of the Board during such year (including service as a member or chair of any committees of the Board), shall not exceed \$500,000 in total value (calculating the value of any such Awards based on the grant date fair value of such Awards for financial reporting purposes). The independent members of the Board may make exceptions to this limit for a non-executive chair of the Board, provided that the non-employee Director receiving such additional compensation may not participate in the decision to award such compensation.

#### Article 5. Eligibility and Participation

5.1 Eligibility. All employees, outside directors and consultants of the Company or any Affiliate, capable of contributing significantly to the successful performance of the Company, are eligible to be Participants in the Plan.

**5.2** Actual Participation. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee will, from time to time, select those Eligible Employees to whom Awards will be granted, and will determine the nature and amount of each Award.

#### Article 6. Stock Options

6.1 Grant of Options. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee may award Incentive Stock Options and Nonqualified Stock Options and determine the number of shares to be covered by each Option, the Exercise Price therefor and the conditions and limitations applicable to the exercise of the Option.

**6.2** Award Agreement. Each Option grant will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that specifies the Exercise Price, the duration of the Option, the number of Shares to which the Option pertains, the manner, time and rate of exercise or vesting of the Option, and such other provisions as the Committee determines. The Award Agreement will also specify whether the Option is intended to be an ISO or an NQSO.

**6.3** Exercise Price. The Committee shall establish the Exercise Price at the time each Option is awarded. Other than with respect to Substitute Awards, the Exercise Price for each Share subject to an Option will be at least one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value on the date the Option is granted.

6.4 **Duration of Options.** Each Option will expire at the time determined by the Committee at the time of grant, but no later than the tenth  $(10^{\text{th}})$  anniversary of the date of its grant.

6.5 No Dividend Equivalents. The Committee may not grant payments in connection with Options that are equivalent to dividends declared and paid on the Shares underlying the Options.

**6.6** Exercise of Options. Options will be exercisable at such times and be subject to such restrictions and conditions as the Committee in each instance approves, which need not be the same for each Award or for each Participant. The Committee may impose such conditions



with respect to the exercise of Options, including conditions relating to applicable federal or state securities laws, as it considers necessary or advisable. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Article 6, if, on the date an outstanding Option would expire due to a termination of Service, the exercise of the Option would violate applicable securities laws or any insider trading policy maintained by the Company from time to time, the expiration date applicable to the Option will be extended to a date that is thirty (30) calendar days after the date the exercise of the Option would no longer violate applicable securities laws or any such insider trading policy or, if earlier, the stated expiration date of the Option; however, no extension will be made if the Exercise Price of such Option at the date the term would otherwise expire is above the Fair Market Value (i.e., the Option is "underwater").

#### 6.7 Payment.

(a) The holder of an Option may exercise the Option only by delivering a written notice of exercise to the Company setting forth the number of Shares as to which the Option is to be exercised, together with full payment at the Exercise Price for the Shares and any withholding tax relating to the exercise of the Option.

(b) The Exercise Price and any related withholding taxes will be payable to the Company in full either: (a) in cash, or its equivalent, in United States dollars; (b) by tendering Shares owned by the Participant and duly endorsed for transfer to the Company, Shares issuable to the Participant upon exercise of the Option, or any combination of cash, certified or cashier's check and Shares described in this clause (b); or (c) by any other means the Committee determines to be consistent with the Plan's purposes and applicable law. Any cashless exercise must meet the requirements of the Federal Reserve Board's Regulation T and any applicable securities law restrictions. For this purpose, "cashless" exercise will mean that the Participant notifies the Company it will exercise, and the Company is instructed to deliver the Shares issuable on exercise to a broker, who sells the Shares and holds back the Exercise Price (and, often, the federal and state withholdings).

(c) To the extent permitted by the Company, the number of Shares tendered pursuant to clause (b) may have a Fair Market Value equal to the amount required to be withheld or other greater amount up to the maximum statutory rate under applicable law, as applicable to such Participant, so long as such other greater amount is permitted under applicable withholding rules promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service or another applicable governmental entity and would not result in adverse financial accounting treatment, as determined by the Committee (including in connection with the effectiveness of FASB Accounting Standards Update 2016-09).

**6.8** Termination of Service. Each Option Award Agreement will set forth the extent to which the Participant has the right to exercise the Option after his or her termination of Service with the Company and all Affiliates. These terms will be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, need not be uniform among all Options, and may reflect, among other things, distinctions based on the reasons for termination of Service.

#### 6.9 Nontransferability of Options.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in a Participant's Award Agreement, no Option granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order (as defined in Code Section 414(p)). Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant's Award Agreement, all Options will be exercisable during the Participant's lifetime only by the Participant or his or her guardian or legal representative. The Committee may, in its discretion, require a Participant's guardian or legal representative to supply it with the evidence the Committee deems necessary to establish the authority of the guardian or legal representative to act on behalf of the Participant. In no event may an Option be transferred by a Participant for consideration.

(b) The Committee may impose any other restrictions on any Shares acquired through exercise of an Option as it deems necessary or advisable, including, without limitation, restrictions under applicable federal securities laws, under the requirements of any stock exchange or market upon which the Shares are then listed or traded, and under any blue sky or state securities laws applicable to the Shares.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant, at any time prior to his or her death, may assign all or any portion of a vested (c) Option (other than an Incentive Stock Option) granted to him or her to a family member or a charitable organization or Code Section 501(c) private foundation meeting the requirements of Code Section 170(c). For purposes of Section 12(a), "family member" shall mean a Participant's child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, including adoptive relationships, any person sharing the Participant's household (other than a tenant of the Participant), a trust in which these persons (or the Participant) have more than fifty percent (50%) of the beneficial interest, a foundation in which these persons (or the Participant) control the management of assets, and any other entity in which these persons (or the Participant) own more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting interests. Any such transferee shall enter into a written agreement with the Company authorizing the Company to withhold Shares of Stock that would otherwise be delivered to such person upon an exercise of the Option to pay any federal, state, local, or other taxes that may be required to be withheld or paid in connection with such exercise, in the event that the Participant is subject to withholding taxes and does not provide for an arrangement satisfactory to the Company to assure that such taxes will be paid. In the event of such transfer, the transferee will be entitled to all of the Participant's rights with respect to the assigned portion of such Option, and such portion of the Option will continue to be subject to all of the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to the Option, as set forth herein and in the related Option agreement. Any such assignment will be permitted only if the Participant does not receive any consideration therefore and does not violate applicable securities laws. Any such assignment shall be evidenced by an appropriate written document executed by the Participant, and the Participant shall deliver a copy thereof to the Committee on or prior to the effective date of the assignment.

#### 13

6.10 Special Provisions for ISOs. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 6 to the contrary, the following special provisions shall apply to any Award of Incentive Stock Options:

(a) The Committee may award Incentive Stock Options only to Employees (for purposes of this Article 6, the term "Employee" shall not include a Director who is not employed by the Company or an Affiliate).

(b) In no event shall more than 3,100,000 Shares be cumulatively available for Awards of Incentive Stock Options under the Plan.

(c) An Option will not constitute an Incentive Stock Option under this Plan to the extent it would cause the aggregate Fair Market Value of Shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable by the Participant for the first time during a year (under all plans of the Company and its Affiliates) to exceed \$100,000. Such Fair Market Value shall be determined as of the date on which each such Incentive Stock Option is granted.

(d) If the Employee to whom the Incentive Stock Option is granted owns stock possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of the Company or any Affiliate, then: (i) the Exercise Price for each Share subject to an Option will be at least one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of the Share on the date the Option is granted; and (ii) the Option will expire upon the earlier of (A) the time specified by the Committee in the Award Agreement, or (B) the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) anniversary of the date of grant.

(e) No Option that is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option may be granted under the Plan until the Effective Date, as defined in Article 2, provided, however, that no Option will qualify as an Incentive Stock Option unless shareholder approval is obtained within twelve (12) months of the Effective Date. No Option that is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option may be granted under the Plan after the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) anniversary of Board approval of the Plan.

(f) An Incentive Stock Option must be exercised, if at all, by the earliest of (i) the time specified in the Award Agreement, (ii) three (3) months after the Participant's termination of Service for a reason other than death or Disability, or (iii) twelve months after the Participant's termination of Service for death or Disability.

(g) An Option that is intended but fails to be an ISO shall be treated as an NQSO for purposes of the Plan.

#### Article 7. Stock Appreciation Rights

#### 7.1 Grant of SARs.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, SARs may be granted to Participants at any time and from time to time, as determined by the Committee. The Committee may grant Freestanding SARs, Tandem SARs or any combination of the two.

(b) Within the limits of Article 4, the Committee will have sole discretion to determine the number of SARs granted to each Participant and, consistent with the provisions of the Plan, to determine the terms and conditions pertaining to SARs.

(c) Other than with respect to Substitute Awards, (i) SARs granted in tandem with Options shall have a grant price not less than the Exercise Price of the related Option and (ii) SARs granted alone and unrelated to an Option will have a grant price equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value on the date the SAR is granted.

### 7.2 Exercise of Tandem SARs.

(a) Tandem SARs may be exercised for all or part of the Shares subject to the related Option, upon the surrender of the right to exercise the equivalent portion of the related Option. A Tandem SAR may be exercised only with respect to the Shares for which its related Option is then exercisable.

(b) An SAR related to an Option, which SAR can only be exercised upon or during limited periods following a Change in Control of the Company, may entitle the Participant to receive an amount based upon the highest price paid or offered for Common Stock in any transaction relating to the Change in Control or paid during the thirty (30) day period immediately preceding the occurrence of the Change in Control in any transaction reported in the stock market in which the Common Stock is normally traded.

7.3 Exercise of Freestanding SARs. Freestanding SARs may be exercised upon whatever terms and conditions the Committee, in its sole discretion, imposes.

7.4 Award Agreement. Each SAR grant will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that specifies the grant price, the term of the SAR and such other provisions as the Committee determines.

7.5 Term of SARs. The term of an SAR will be determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion, but may not exceed ten (10) years.

**7.6** Payment of SAR Amount. Upon exercise of an SAR, a Participant will be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying: (x) the excess (or some portion of the excess as determined at the time of the grant by the Committee) if any, of the Fair Market Value on the date of exercise of the SAR over the grant price specified in the Award Agreement; by (y) the number of Shares as to which the SAR is exercised. The payment upon SAR exercise may be made in cash, in Shares of equivalent Fair Market Value or in some combination of the two, as specified in the Award Agreement.

7.7 Automatic Exercise. Unless otherwise provided by the Committee in an Award Agreement or otherwise, or as otherwise directed by the Participant in writing to the Company, each vested and exercisable SAR outstanding on the Automatic Exercise Date with a grant price per Share that is less than the Fair Market Value per Share as of such date shall automatically and without further action by the Participant or the Company be exercised on the Automatic



Exercise Date. The Company or any Affiliate shall deduct or withhold an amount sufficient to satisfy all taxes associated with such exercise in accordance with Article 16. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, this Section 7.7 shall not apply to a Stock Appreciation Right if the Participant's Service has terminated on or before the Automatic Exercise Date. For the avoidance of doubt, no SAR with a grant price per Share that is equal to or greater the Fair Market Value per Share on the Automatic Exercise Date shall be exercised pursuant to this Section 7.7.

**7.8** Termination of Service. Each SAR Award Agreement will set forth the extent to which the Participant has the right to exercise the SAR after his or her termination of Service with the Company and all Affiliates. These terms will be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, need not be uniform among all SARs issued under the Plan, and may reflect, among other things, distinctions based on the reasons for termination of Service.

**7.9** Nontransferability of SARs. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant's Award Agreement, no SAR may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order (as defined in Code Section 414(p)). Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant's Award Agreement, all SARs will be exercisable during the Participant's lifetime only by the Participant or the Participant's guardian or legal representative. The Committee may, in its discretion, require a Participant's guardian or legal representative to supply it with evidence the Committee deems necessary to establish the authority of the guardian or legal representative to act on behalf of the Participant. In no event may an SAR be transferred by a Participant for consideration.

7.10 No Dividend Equivalents. The Committee may not grant payments in connection with SARs that are equivalent to dividends declared and paid on the Shares underlying the SARs.

#### Article 8. Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Units

**8.1** Grant of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units or Restricted Units. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Committee may, at any time and from time to time, grant Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units or Restricted Units to Participants in such amounts as it determines.

**8.2** Award Agreement. Each grant of Restricted Stock, Restricted Units or Restricted Stock Units will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that specifies the Restriction Periods, the number of Shares or Share-equivalent units granted, the conditions under which the Award may be forfeited to the Company, and such other provisions as the Committee determines. Shares of Restricted Stock may be issued for no cash consideration or such minimum consideration as may be required by applicable law.

**8.3** Nontransferability. Restricted Stock, Restricted Units and Restricted Stock Units granted herein may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order (as defined in Code Section 414(p)), until the end of the applicable

Restriction Period as specified in the Award Agreement, or upon earlier satisfaction of any other conditions specified by the Committee in its sole discretion and set forth in the Award Agreement. All rights with respect to Restricted Stock, Restricted Units and Restricted Stock Units will be available during the Participant's lifetime only to the Participant or the Participant's guardian or legal representative. The Committee may, in its discretion, require a Participant's guardian or legal representative to supply it with evidence the Committee deems necessary to establish the authority of the guardian or legal representative to act on behalf of the Participant.

**8.4 Other Restrictions.** Subject to Article 11, the Committee may impose such other conditions or restrictions on any Restricted Stock, Restricted Units or Restricted Stock Units as it deems advisable including, without limitation, restrictions based upon the achievement of specific performance objectives (Company-wide, business unit, individual, or any combination of them), time-based restrictions on vesting following the attainment of the performance objectives, and restrictions under applicable federal or state securities laws. The Committee may provide that restrictions established under this Section 8.4 as to any given Award will lapse all at once or in installments. The Company will retain the certificates representing Shares of Restricted Stock in its possession until all conditions and restrictions applicable to the Shares have been satisfied.

**8.5** Payment of Awards. Except as otherwise provided in this Article 8, Shares covered by each Restricted Stock grant will become freely transferable by the Participant after the last day of the applicable Restriction Period, and Share equivalent units covered by a Restricted Unit or Restricted Stock Unit will be paid out in cash or Shares to the Participant following the last day of the applicable Restriction Period, or on a later date provided in the Award Agreement.

**8.6** Voting Rights. During the Restriction Period, Participants holding Shares of Restricted Stock may exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares. Subject to the provisions of the applicable Award, no Participant or Designated Beneficiary shall have any rights as a shareholder with respect to any Shares of Common Stock to be distributed under the Plan until he or she becomes the holder thereof. A Participant to whom Common Stock is awarded shall be considered the holder of the Stock at the time of the Award except as otherwise provided in the applicable Award.

**8.7 Dividends and Other Distributions.** Except as otherwise provided in an Award Agreement, during the Restriction Period, Participants awarded Shares of Restricted Stock, Restricted Units or Restricted Stock Units hereunder will be credited with regular cash dividends or dividend equivalents paid on those Shares or with respect to those Share-equivalent units. Dividends or dividend equivalents shall be accrued as contingent cash obligations or converted into additional Shares of Restricted Stock, Restricted Units or Restricted Stock Units; provided however, that any such dividends, dividend equivalents, or other distributions so credited shall be subject to the same Restriction Period and other conditions as the underlying Award.

**8.8** Termination of Service. Each Award Agreement will set forth the extent to which the Participant has the right to retain unvested Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units or Restricted Units after his or her termination of Service with the Company or an Affiliate. These

17

terms will be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, need not be uniform among all Awards of Restricted Stock, and may reflect, among other things, distinctions based on the reasons for termination of Service.

#### Article 9. Performance Units, Performance Shares, Performance Awards, and Other Awards

#### 9.1 Grant of Performance Units or Performance Shares.

(a) Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committee shall have the authority to grant Performance Units, Performance Shares, or Performance Awards to Participants in such amounts and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time, as the Committee determines. Each grant of Performance Shares, Performance Units, and Performance Awards (other than annual cash bonus Awards) shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the number of Performance Shares and the number and value of Performance Units awarded to the Participant, the Performance Criteria applicable thereto, and such other terms and conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as the Committee shall determine.

(b) The Committee will set performance objectives in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number or value (or both) of Performance Units or Performance Shares that will be paid out to the Participant. For purposes of this Article 9, the time period during which the performance objectives must be met will be called a "Performance Period" and will be set by the Committee in its discretion.

**9.2** Earning of Performance Units, Performance Shares, and Performance Awards. Performance Shares, Performance Units, and Performance Awards shall become earned, in whole or in part, based upon the attainment of specified Performance Criteria or the occurrence of any event or events, including a Change in Control, as the Committee shall determine, either at or after the grant date. In addition to the achievement of the specified Performance Criteria, the Committee may, at the grant date, condition payment of Performance Shares, Performance Units, and Performance Awards on the Participant completing a minimum period of Service following the grant date or on such other conditions as the Committee shall specify. The Committee may provide, at the time of any grant of Performance Shares or Performance Units, that if performance relative to the Performance Criteria exceeds targeted levels, the number of Shares issuable in respect of each Performance Unit shall be adjusted by such multiple as the Committee shall specify.

**9.3** Certification of Attainment of Performance Criteria. As soon as practicable after the end of a Performance Period and prior to any payment in respect of such Performance Period, the Committee shall certify in writing the number of Performance Shares, the number and value of Performance Units, or the amount of the Performance Award, that have been earned on the basis of performance in relation to the established Performance Criteria.

9.4 Form and Timing of Payment of Performance Units, Performance Shares, and Performance Awards. Except as provided in Article 12, payment of earned Performance

Units, Performance Shares, and Performance Awards will be made as soon as practicable after the close of the applicable Performance Period and within two and one-half (2-1/2) months following the end of the later of the calendar year or the fiscal year of the Company in which the Performance Units, Performance Shares, or Performance Awards were earned, in a manner determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Committee will pay earned Performance Units, Performance Shares, and Performance Awards in the form of cash, in Shares, or in a combination of cash and Shares, as specified in the Award Agreement. Performance Shares may be paid subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the Committee.

**9.5** Termination of Service. Each Participant's Award Agreement will set forth the extent to which the Participant has the right to receive a payout of the Performance Units, Performance Shares, and Performance Awards after his or her termination of Service with the Company and all Affiliates. Payment of earned Performance Units, Performance Shares, and Performance Awards will be made at a time specified by the Committee in its sole discretion and set forth in the Participant's Award Agreement.

**9.6** Nontransferability. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant's Award Agreement, Performance Units, Performance Shares, and Performance Awards may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, or pursuant to a domestic relations order (as defined in Code Section 414(p)). Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant's Award Agreement, a Participant's rights under the Plan will be exercisable during the Participant's guardian or legal representative. The Committee may, in its discretion, require a Participant's guardian or legal representative to supply it with evidence the Committee deems necessary to establish the authority of the guardian or legal representative to act on behalf of the Participant.

**9.7 Other Awards.** In addition to the Awards described in Articles 6 through 8 and Sections 9.1 through 9.10 above, and subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committee may grant other incentives payable in cash or Shares under the Plan as it determines to be in the best interests of the Company and subject to such other terms and conditions as it deems appropriate. Shares of Common Stock awarded in connection with such other Award shall be issued for no cash consideration or such minimum consideration as may be required by applicable law. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee may make other awards of Common Stock and other Awards that are valued in whole or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based on, Common Stock, including, without limitation, convertible preferred stock, convertible debentures, exchangeable securities and Common Stock Awards or options.

**9.8** Dividends and Other Distributions. Dividends, dividend equivalents, or other distributions with respect to Shares underlying an Award may be credited with respect to an Award pursuant to this Article 9, as provided in an applicable Award Agreement; provided however, that any such dividends, dividend equivalents, or other distributions so credited shall be subject to the same Restriction Period and other conditions as the underlying Award.

19

#### Article 10. Performance Criteria.

The Performance Criteria to be used for purposes of Awards may include, without limitation, one or more of the following measures:

- (a) earnings growth;
- (b) earnings per share of common stock;
- (c) net earnings;
- (d) operating earnings or income;
- (e) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA);
- (f) net sales growth;
- (g) net income (absolute or competitive growth rates comparative);
- (h) net income applicable to common stock;
- (i) cash flow, including operating cash flow, free cash flow, discounted cash flow return on investment, and cash flow in excess of cost of capital;
- (j) operating earnings or income per share of common stock;
- (k) revenues;
- (l) shareholders' equity;
- (m) return on shareholders' equity (absolute or peer-group comparative);
- (n) stock price (absolute or peer-group comparative);
- (o) absolute and/or relative return on common shareholders equity;
- (p) absolute and/or relative return on capital;
- (q) absolute and/or relative return on assets;
- (r) economic value added (income in excess of cost of capital);
- (s) operating margins;
- (t) total shareholder return;
- (u) customer satisfaction;
- (v) quality metrics;
- (w) expenses or expense reduction;
- (x) debt-to-capital ratio;
- (y) market share;
- (z) ratio of operating expenses to operating revenues; and
- (aa) any other objective or subjective metric selected by the Committee.

The Committee may specify any reasonable definition of the performance measures it uses. Such definitions may provide for reasonable adjustments and may include or exclude items, including but not limited to: investment gains and losses; unusual or non-recurring items or items determined to be unusual in nature and/or infrequent in occurrence; gains or losses on the sale of assets; effects of changes in accounting principles or the application thereof; effects of changes in tax laws; asset impairment charges; effects of currency fluctuations; acquisitions, divestitures, or financing activities; recapitalizations, including stock splits and dividends; expenses for restructuring or productivity initiatives; discontinued operations; and other operating or non-operating items. The levels of performance required with respect to the performance measures may be expressed in absolute or relative levels and may be based upon a set increase, set positive result, maintenance of the status quo, set decrease or set negative result. The applicable performance measures may differ for Awards to different Participants.

The Committee will have the discretion to adjust targets set for preestablished performance objectives.

#### Article 11. Beneficiary Designation

Each Participant may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named contingently or successively) to whom any benefit under the Plan is to be paid in case the Participant should die before receiving any or all of his or her Plan benefits. Each beneficiary designation will revoke all prior designations by the same Participant, must be in a form prescribed by the Committee, and must be made during the Participant's lifetime. In the absence of an effective designation by a Participant, "Designated Beneficiary" shall mean the beneficiary designated by the Participant in the Company's qualified 401(k) savings plan or, if no such beneficiary has been designated, to the Participant's estate.

#### Article 12. Deferrals

The Committee may, consistent with the requirements of Code Section 409A, permit a Participant to defer receipt of cash or Shares that would otherwise be due to him or her by virtue of an Option or SAR exercise, the lapse or waiver of restrictions on Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Restricted Units or other Awards, or the satisfaction of any requirements or objectives with respect to Performance Units, Performance Shares or other Awards. If any such deferral election is permitted, the Committee will, in its sole discretion, establish rules and procedures for such deferrals consistent with the requirements of Code Section 409A.

#### Article 13. Rights of Employees

**13.1 Employment.** Nothing in the Plan will interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any affiliate of the Company (as defined in federal securities laws) to terminate any Participant's employment at any time, or confer upon any Participant any right to continue in the employ of the Company or any Affiliate.

13.2 Participation. No Eligible Employee will have the right to receive an Award under this Plan, or, having received any Award, to receive a future Award.

#### Article 14. Change in Control

14.1 Treatment of Outstanding Awards. Subject to the terms of the applicable Award Agreement, in the event of a Change in Control, the Committee (as constituted prior to such Change in Control) may, in its discretion:

(a) Require that shares of stock of the corporation resulting from such Change in Control, or a parent corporation thereof, be substituted for some or all of the Shares subject to an outstanding Award, with an appropriate and equitable adjustment to such Award as shall be determined in accordance with Section 4.4 of the Plan;



(b) Provide that (A) some or all outstanding options and SARs shall become exercisable in full or in part, either immediately or upon a subsequent termination of employment, (B) the Restriction Period applicable to some or all outstanding Awards shall lapse in full or in part, either immediately or upon a subsequent termination of employment, (C) the Performance Period applicable to some or all outstanding Awards shall lapse in full or in part, and (D) the Performance Criteria applicable to some or all outstanding Awards shall be deemed to be satisfied at the target or any other level; and/or

(c) Require outstanding Awards, in whole or in part, to be surrendered to the Company by the holder, and to be immediately cancelled by the Company, and to provide for the holder to receive (A) a cash payment in an amount equal to (1) in the case of an Option or an SAR, the aggregate number of Shares then subject to the portion of such Option or SAR surrendered multiplied by the excess, if any, of the Change in Control Price, over the Exercise Price or grant price per Share subject to the portion of such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award have been satisfied or are deemed satisfied pursuant to Section 14.1(b), multiplied by the Change in Control Price, and (3) in the case of a performance-based Award denominated in cash, the value of the Award then subject to the portion of such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award surrendered to the extent the Performance Criteria applicable to such Award have been satisfied or are deemed satisfied pursuant to Section 14.1(b); (B) shares of capital stock of the corporation resulting from or succeeding to the business of the Company pursuant to such Change in Control, or a parent corporation thereof, having a fair market value not less than the amount determined under clause (A) above; or (C) a combination of the payment of cash pursuant to clause (A) above and the issuance of shares pursuant to clause (B) above.

**14.2** Change in Control Price. For purposes of this Section 14.1, "Change in Control Price" shall mean the Fair Market Value of a Share upon a Change in Control, and to the extent that the consideration paid in any such Change in Control transaction consists all or in part of securities or other non-cash consideration, the value of such securities or other non-cash consideration shall be determined in good faith by the Committee.

#### Article 15. Amendment, Modification and Termination

**15.1 Amendment, Modification and Termination.** The Committee or Board may at any time and from time to time, alter, amend, modify or terminate the Plan in whole or in part, subject to any shareholder approval that the Board determines to be necessary or advisable.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Committee may modify, extend or renew outstanding Awards under the Plan, or accept the surrender of outstanding Awards (to the extent not already exercised) and grant new Awards in substitution of them (to the extent not already exercised). Except as provided in Sections 4.4 or in connection with a Change in Control, the Committee shall not, without the prior approval of the Company's shareholders, (i) cancel any outstanding Option or SAR for the purpose of reissuing the Option or SAR to the Participant at a lower Exercise Price or grant price, (ii) exchange any outstanding Option or SAR whose Exercise Price or grant price is equal to or greater than the current Fair Market Value of a Share



for cash or another Award, (iii) reduce the Exercise Price or grant price of an outstanding Option or SAR, or (iv) take any other action that would be a "repricing" of the Option or SAR. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no alteration, modification or termination of an Award will, without the prior written consent of the Participant, materially and adversely alter or impair any rights or obligations under any Award already granted under the Plan.

**15.2** Adjustment of Awards Upon the Occurrence of Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events. The Committee shall, using reasonable care, make adjustments in the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in, Awards in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan (i) in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without limitation, the events described in Section 4.4) affecting the Company or its financial statements, (ii) in recognition of changes in applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles, or (iii) whenever the Committee determines that such adjustments are necessary, equitable and/or appropriate.

**15.3** Compensation Recoupment Policy. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan or in any Award Agreement to the contrary, Awards granted or paid under the Plan will be subject to recoupment by the Company pursuant to any "clawback" or similar compensation recoupment policy that may be established by the Company and amended from time to time to comply with applicable law, including, without limitation, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or to comport with good corporate governance practices.

**15.4** Awards Previously Granted. No termination, amendment or modification of the Plan will materially and adversely affect in any material way any Award already granted, without the written consent of the Participant who holds the Award.

**15.5 Compliance with Code Section 409A.** The Plan and Awards, and all amounts payable with respect to Awards, are intended to comply with, or be exempt from, Code Section 409A and the interpretative guidance thereunder and shall be construed, interpreted and administered accordingly. If an unintentional operational failure occurs with respect to Code Section 409A, any affected Participant or beneficiary shall fully cooperate with the Company to correct the failure to the extent possible in accordance with any correction procedure established by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. If a Participant is a "specified employee" (as such term is defined for purposes of Code Section 409A) at the time of his or her termination of employment, no amount that is subject to Code Section 409A and that becomes payable by reason of such termination of employment shall be paid to the Participant before the earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6) month period measured from the date of the Participant's termination of employment, and (ii) the date of the Participant's death. A termination of employment shall be deemed to occur only if it is a "separation from service" within the meaning of Code Section 409A, and references in the Plan and any Award Agreement to "termination," "termination of employment," or like terms shall mean a "separation from service." A separation from service shall be deemed to occur if it is anticipated that the level of services the Participant will perform after a certain date (whether as an employee or as an independent contractor) will permanently decrease to twenty percent (20%) or less of the average level of services provided by the Participant in the immediately preceding thirty-six (36) months. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan and grants hereunder to the contrary, in light of the uncertainty with respect to the



proper application of Code Section 409A, the Company reserves the right to make amendments to the Plan and grants hereunder as the Company deems necessary or desirable to avoid the imposition of taxes or penalties under Code Section 409A. In any case, a Participant will be solely responsible and liable for the satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that may be imposed on a Participant or for a Participant's account in connection with the Plan and grants hereunder (including any taxes and penalties under Code Section 409A), and neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates will have any obligation to indemnify or otherwise hold a Participant harmless from any or all of such taxes or penalties.

#### Article 16. Withholding

16.1 Tax Withholding. The Company will have the power and the right to deduct or withhold from any Award or other compensation of the Participant, or require a Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes, domestic or foreign, required by law or regulation to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising under this Plan. No Award Agreement will permit reload options to be granted in connection with any Shares used to pay a tax withholding obligation.

16.2 Share Withholding. With respect to withholding required upon the exercise of Options or SARs, upon the lapse of restrictions on Restricted Stock, or upon any other taxable event arising as a result of Awards granted hereunder, the Company may satisfy the withholding requirement for supplemental wages, in whole or in part, by withholding Shares having a Fair Market Value (determined on the date the Participant recognizes taxable income on the Award) equal to the amount required to be withheld or other greater amount up to the maximum statutory rate required to be collected on the transaction under applicable law, as applicable to the Participant, so long as such other greater amount is permitted under applicable withholding rules promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service or other applicable governmental entity and would not result in adverse financial accounting treatment, as determined by the Committee (including in connection with the effectiveness of FASB Accounting Standards Update 2016-09). The Participant may elect, subject to the approval of the Committee, to deliver the necessary funds to satisfy the withholding obligation to the Company, in which case there will be no reduction in the Shares otherwise distributable to the Participant.

#### Article 17. Indemnification

Each person who is or has been a member of the Committee or the Board will be indemnified and held harmless by the Company from and against any loss, cost, liability, or expense that may be imposed upon or reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with or as a result of any claim, action, suit or proceeding to which he or she may be a party or in which he or she may be involved by reason of any action taken, or failure to act, under the Plan. Each such person will also be indemnified and held harmless by the Company from and against any and all amounts paid by him or her in a settlement approved by the Company, or paid by him or her in satisfaction of any judgment, of or in a claim, action, suit or proceeding against him or her and described in the previous sentence, so long as he or she gives the Company an opportunity, at its own expense, to handle and defend the claim, action, suit or proceeding before he or she undertakes to handle and defend it. The foregoing right of indemnification will not be exclusive



of any other rights of indemnification to which a person who is or has been a member of the Committee or the Board may be entitled under the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws, as a matter of law, or otherwise, or any power that the Company may have to indemnify him or her or hold him or her harmless.

#### Article 18. Successors

All obligations of the Company under the Plan or any Award Agreement will be binding on any successor to the Company, whether the existence of the successor results from a direct or indirect purchase of all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company or both, or a merger, consolidation, or otherwise.

#### Article 19. Legal Construction

**19.1** Number. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any plural term used in this Plan includes the singular and a singular term includes the plural.

**19.2** Severability. If any provision of the Plan is held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity will not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan will be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

**19.3** Requirements of Law. The granting of Awards and the issuance of Share or cash payouts under the Plan will be subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to any approvals by governmental agencies or national securities exchanges as may be required.

**19.4** Securities Law Compliance. As to any individual who is, on the relevant date, an officer, director or ten percent (10%) beneficial owner of any class of the Company's equity securities that is registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, all as defined under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, transactions under this Plan are intended to comply with all applicable conditions of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, or any successor rule. To the extent any provision of the Plan or action by the Committee fails to so comply, it will be deemed null and void, to the extent permitted by law and deemed advisable by the Committee.

**19.5** Awards to Foreign Nationals and Employees Outside the United States. To the extent the Committee deems it necessary, appropriate or desirable to comply with foreign law or practice and to further the purposes of this Plan, the Committee may, without amending the Plan, (a) establish rules applicable to Awards granted to Participants who are foreign nationals, are employed outside the United States, or both, including rules that differ from those set forth in this Plan, and (b) grant Awards to such Participants in accordance with those rules.

**19.6** Unfunded Status of the Plan. The Plan is intended to constitute an "unfunded" plan for incentive and deferred compensation. With respect to any payments or deliveries of Shares not yet made to a Participant by the Company, the Participant's rights are no greater than those of a general creditor of the Company. The Committee may authorize the establishment of trusts or other arrangements to meet the obligations created under the Plan, so long as the arrangement does not cause the Plan to lose its legal status as an unfunded plan.

**19.7** Governing Law. To the extent not preempted by federal law, the Plan and all agreements hereunder will be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia without giving effect to principles of conflicts of law.

**19.8** Electronic Delivery and Evidence of Award. The Company may deliver by email or other electronic means (including posting on a website maintained by the Company or by a third party) all documents relating to the Plan or any Award hereunder (including, without limitation, any Award Agreement and prospectus required by the SEC) and all other documents that the Company is required to deliver to its securities holders (including, without limitation, annual reports and proxy statements). In addition, evidence of an Award may be in electronic form, may be limited to notation on the books and records of the Company and, with the approval of the Board, need not be signed by a representative of the Company or a Participant. Any Shares that become deliverable to a Participant pursuant to the Plan may be issued in certificate form in the name of the Participant or in book entry form in the name of the Participant.

**19.9 Plan Document Controls.** The Plan and each Award Agreement constitute the entire agreement with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof; provided, that in the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and such Award Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall control.

\* \* \* \* \*

26

# Hogan Lovells

Hogan Lovells US LLP Columbia Square 555 Thirteenth Street, NW Washington, DC 20004 T +1 202 637 5600 F +1 202 637 5910 www.hoganlovells.com

May 6, 2021

Board of Directors Maximus, Inc. 1891 Metro Center Drive, Reston, Virginia 20190 Ladies and Gentlemen:

We are acting as counsel to Maximus, Inc., a Virginia corporation (the "**Company**"), in connection with its registration statement on Form S-8 (the "**Registration Statement**"), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "**Act**") relating to the proposed offering of up to 3,234,714 newly issued shares of the common stock, no par value, of the Company (the "**Shares**"), all of which shares are issuable pursuant to the Maximus, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "**Plan**"). This opinion letter is furnished to you at your request to enable you to fulfill the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. § 229.601(b)(5), in connection with the Registration Statement.

For purposes of this opinion letter, we have examined copies of such agreements, instruments and documents as we have deemed an appropriate basis on which to render the opinions hereinafter expressed. In our examination of the aforesaid documents, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of all natural persons, the accuracy and completeness of all documents submitted to us, the authenticity of all original documents, and the conformity to authentic original documents of all documents submitted to us as copies (including pdfs). As to all matters of fact, we have relied on the representations and statements of fact made in the documents so reviewed, and we have not independently established the facts so relied on. This opinion letter is given, and all statements herein are made, in the context of the foregoing.

This opinion letter is based as to matters of law solely on the Virginia Stock Corporation Act, as amended. We express no opinion herein as to any other statutes, rules or regulations.

Based upon, subject to and limited by the foregoing, we are of the opinion that following (i) effectiveness of the Registration Statement, (ii) issuance of the Shares pursuant to the terms of the Plan, and (iii) receipt by the Company of the consideration for the Shares specified in the applicable resolutions of the Board of Directors and in the Plan, the Shares will be validly issued, fully paid, and nonassessable.

Hogan Lovells US LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in the District of Columbia. "Hogan Lovells" is an international legal practice that includes Hogan Lovells US LLP and Hogan Lovells International LLP, with offices in: Alicante Amsterdam Batimore Beijing Birmingham Boston Brussels Colorado Springs Derver Dubai Dusseldorf Frankfurt Hamburg Hanoi Ho Chi Minh City Hong Kong Houston Johannesburg London Los Angeles Luxembourg Madrid Mexico City Miami Milan Minneapolis Monterrey Moscow Munich New York Northern Vrignia Paris Perth Philadelphia Rome San Francisco São Paulo Shanghati Slicon Valley Singapore Sydney Tokyo Warsaw Washington, D.C. Associated Offices: Budapest Jakarta Riyadh Shanghai FTZ Ulaanbaatar Zagreb. Business Service Centers: Johannesburg Louisville. Legal Services Center: Berlin. For more information see www.hoganlovells.com

Board of Directors -2- May 6, 2021 Maximus, Inc.

This opinion letter has been prepared for use in connection with the Registration Statement. We assume no obligation to advise of any changes in the foregoing subsequent to the effective date of the Registration Statement.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter as Exhibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement. In giving this consent, we do not thereby admit that we are an "expert" within the meaning of the Act.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Hogan Lovells US LLP

HOGAN LOVELLS US LLP

#### Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8) pertaining to the Maximus, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan of our reports dated November 19, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Maximus, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Maximus, Inc. included in its Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended September 30, 2020, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Tysons, Virginia May 6, 2021